

Haulout patterns of harbour seal (*Phoca vitulina*) colonies in the Norwegian Skagerrak, as monitored through time-lapse camera surveys

ELSA VAN MEURS

SUPERVISORS

Carla Freitas Even Moland

University of Agder, 2023 Faculty of Engineering and Science Department of Natural Sciences

UiA University of Agder Master's thesis Faculty of Engineering and Science Department of Natural Sciences ©2023 Elsa van Meurs. All rights reserved

Abstract

Harbour seals (Phoca vitulina) are a part of the Norwegian coastal ecosystem and are distributed along the coastline, amongst the humans inhabiting and/or visiting these areas. We need to gain a better understanding of how to effectively manage and protect these seals. In this study, time-lapse camera surveys were employed to enhance our understanding of the haulout patterns of harbour seals in the Norwegian Skagerrak. I investigated how these patterns were influenced by environmental parameters, including wind speed, temperature, water level, time of day, and anthropogenic disturbances. Data was collected from cameras installed at the two locations: Lyngør and Østre-Bolærene, during 12 and 4 months, respectively. Temperature (p-value < 0,001) had a significant positive influence on haulout behaviour. Water level (p-value < 0.001) and wind speed (p-value < 0.001) had a negative effect on the number of seals on land. I observed that human presence had an impact on how the seals behaved. This may vary due to the layout of the area and if the area was highly populated by humans in the summer months. This study identified clear circadian patterns in the seals' haulout behaviour during autumn and early winter, with a preference for hauling out during late afternoon, night, and early morning. Previous studies have shown that seal haulout behaviour could be affected by various factors. This study's significant contribution lies in its successful demonstration of using time-lapse cameras to effectively monitor haulout patterns. Overall, this study provided valuable insights into the factors that influenced the haulout behaviour of harbour seals and emphasized the importance of considering environmental factors in understanding the behaviour of marine mammals. This in turn could give us a better understanding on how to correct seal count during the moulting season as well as give us a better understanding on their behaviour. We must take in account that there might be slight changes in the haulout behaviour during the moulting season.

Table of contents

1. Introduction	1
2. Methods and materials	5
2.1 Study sites	5
2.2 Time-lapse camera surveys	7
2.3 Environmental data	8
2.4 Data analysis	8
3. Results	11
3.1 How temperature affects the number of seals	14
3.2 How the water level affects the number of seals	15
3.3 How the wind speed affects the number of seals hauled out	16
3.4 How holidays and weekends affect the number of seals	17
3.5 How the number of seals varied during the time of day	18
3.6 Model estimates	18
4. Discussion	21
4.1 Temperature and haulout behaviour	21
4.2 Tidal influence on haulout behaviour	21
4.3 Wind speed and haulout behaviour	22
4.4 How holidays and weekends affect the number of seals hauling out	22
4.5 Varying haulout behaviour during the day	23
4.6 Sources of error	23
4.7 Further suggestions	24
5. Conclusion	26
6. References	27

Acknowledgements

I would like to give a huge thanks to my main supervisor Carla Freitas, Researcher at the Institute of Marine Research (IMR), for giving me the opportunity to study these fantastic animals up close and investigate their haulout behaviour and how it is affected by different parameters. I would also like to thank my internal supervisor at UiA Even Moland, Researcher at the Institute of Marine Research (IMR).

I am also greatly thankful for being able to join IMR on their field research in September 2022. It was an amazing experience to be a part of! Thank you for letting me be a part of the team Carla Freitas, Martin Kristiansen, Martin Biuw, Michael Poltermann, Karin Hårding, Tero Harkonen and Daire Carroll.

Lastly, I would also like to thank my family and partner for supporting my work and for helping me get through tough situations.

Elsa van Meurs
May 18th, 2023 Arendal

1. Introduction

Harbour seals (*Phoca vitulina*) are part of the semi-aquatic mammals called pinnipeds. These mammals have adapted to a diverse environment, making them able to live on land, ice and in water (Riedman, 1990). Harbour seals are relatively small seals with a variable fur coloration (Figure 1) and a compacted body (Wursig et al., 2018). They have a streamlined body shape, which reduces drag in the water and enables them to swim efficiently (Wursig et al., 2018). Weighing approximately 70 - 100 kilograms, females tend to weigh a little less than the males (Bjørge et al., 2010). These seals typically have a length of approximately 1,5 meters and can live up to 22 to 35 years (Bjørge et al., 2010). Harbour seals are generalists, making them able to live off a wide array of food (Blanchet et al., 2021). Due to their size, these seals primarily feed on smaller to medium-sized prey (Wursig et al., 2018).

Harbour seals become sexually mature from four to six years and give birth during the summer months (Kinze et al., 2002; Wursig et al., 2018). When born, the pups have already shed their first fur and are ready to enter the waters, but are dependent on good hiding spots due to predators (Wursig et al., 2018). This is the most critical period for harbour seals due to possible disturbances (Bjørge, 2014).

An adult harbour seal (age one and up) goes through a shedding period which is known as molting (Bjørge & Nilssen, 2021). In contrast to newborn pups, older individuals go through a yearly molting period where they replace their old fur with new fur (Paoli, 2020). The molting process takes place in late summer from August to September (Bjørge & Nilssen, 2021). Harbour seals also seem to have developed a behaviour that shortens the time used on molting due to an internal increase in skin temperature (Paterson et al., 2012). When the temperature rises in the summer months, harbour seals haulout more frequently, enabling them to shorten their molting period (Bjørge & Nilssen, 2021).. Additionally, they experience reduced heat loss on land compared to being in water. Increasing their body skin temperature also reduces foraging time (Bjørge & Nilssen, 2021).

Harbour seals are among the pinnipeds with the widest distribution, adapted to a huge variety of different habitats (Blanchet et al., 2021). They are a non-migratory species that lives in coastal areas and shows strong signs of site fidelity, making them more vulnerable to

1

local disturbances (Bjørge et al., 2010). The most determining factor for the harbour seal habitat is the type of food, its distribution, and its abundance (Riedman, 1990). The habitat may vary due to the different seasons, providing them with different available nutrients. They typically inhabit coastal waters, estuaries, bays and may wander offshore to feed (Wursig et al., 2018). Some harbour seals can swim up freshwater rivers to forage (Riedman, 1990).



Figure 1. A group of harbour seals outside of Østre-Bolærene. Photo credit: Elsa van Meurs.

Harbour seals are dependent on patches of land or ice to rest, breed, moult, and raise young (Riedman, 1990). They prefer to haulout on rocky shores, skerries (see Figure 1), beaches, or man-made platforms (Blanchet et al., 2021). The term haulout refers to the act of leaving the water and crawling on dry areas (land or ice). Groups of seals inhabiting or hauling out on the same areas are called haulout groups (Härkönen & Harding, 2001). The amount of time spent on land varies depending on the season (Riedman, 1990). Many pinnipeds prefer more undisturbed areas, but harbour seals may inhabit areas near human presence (Riedman, 1990).

Information on haulout patterns during the moulting season is particularly important for aiding correction of population surveys (Lonergan et al., 2013). This is because harbour seals are counted during the moult, when they spend much time on land near their breeding sites (Riedman, 1990). The moulting season causes the seals to be stuck on land due to poor thermoregulation, but it is not the only event that keeps the seals on land (Riedman, 1990). Therefore, the eventual effects of diel and meteorological conditions on haulout behaviour during this season are particularly relevant.

External factors such as environmental parameters have a high influence on the haulout behaviour of harbour seals. Seasonality has an impact on the numbers of seals hauling out. A

study by Granquist and Hauksson (2016) showed that the numbers of seals hauling out decreases during the winter months and increases during the summer months. They also observed the negative impact of wind speed and the positive effects of air temperature (Granquist & Hauksson, 2016). This was also shown in other studies where strong winds decreased the quality of the haulout sites (Mogren et al., 2010). The time of day was not found to affect the number of seals hauling out, possibly due to the correlation between time of day and tide height (Granquist & Hauksson, 2016). Other studies showed the opposite, where harbour seals preferred to haulout at night (Bringsdal, 2021; Grigg et al., 2002; Reder et al., 2003). The tide also affects the haulout behaviour due to the increase or decrease in areas to haulout on. Other studies have also shown that smaller boat traffic might have a temporary effect on the haulout behaviour of harbour seals (Henry & Hammill, 2001). They are also able to develop a tolerance for these smaller boats during the summer months, which may be a result of the moult (Henry & Hammill, 2001).

The total population of harbour seals in Norway is about 10,000 individuals (Bjørge & Nilssen, 2021). These seals can be found from the southernmost tip of Norway to the west coast of Svalbard (Bjørge & Nilssen, 2021). The harbour seal population is managed through a Management Plan which ensures a viable population of harbour seals along the coast (Bjørge & Nilssen, 2021). Harbour seals living in the Skagerrak area haulout on rocky shores, skerries or smaller islands outside of an island chain (Härkönen & Harding, 2001). These seals may congregate in groups of up to a hundred individuals (Bjørge & Nilssen, 2021). Due to a high abundance of fisheries along the western coast of Norway, interactions between seals and fisheries may arise (Bjørge et al., 2002). This may be due to direct interactions where the seals get trapped in fishery equipment or by indirect interactions where they compete for the same recourses.

During the last decades, development of biotelemetry devices has allowed researchers to track individual seals and study haulout patterns at the individual level. Though these devices provide valuable individual information (for instance on haulout duration), data on few tracked individuals may be biased by individual traits, such as sex, maturity state and individual personality. Moreover, few telemetry studies cover the pupping and moulting seasons during the summer, as tags are usually glued to the seal fur after moulting and then fall off during the next moult, or most often before (Bringsdal, 2021). Harbour seals previously tagged in the Norwegian Skagerrak (18 individuals) have sent data between

3

September and March (Bringsdal, 2021), but little to no data has been published on how the haulout behaviour changes throughout an entire year. Therefor I believe that trail cameras, specifically time-lapse cameras, might be a better option in some cases.

Trail cameras are able to capture natural behaviour of the study species, but with limitations (Swann et al., 2011). There are different ways to set up a camera trap; a time-laps mode that takes a image during a set time frame, or motion mode that takes an image when something is moving. Time-lapse cameras are highly capable of detecting animal behaviour on a larger scale (Wearn & Glover-Kapfer, 2019). Time-lapse camera surveys are highly effective when studying animals in remote areas. These cameras are cost effective in a way that they collect large amounts of data compared to the visual surveys where a higher personal demand is needed as well as a higher chance of disturbing the wildlife. Using time-lapse camera surveys to monitor an animal or animals makes it possible to study animals over time and a more complete continuous image of its surroundings (Jones & Rees, 2022).

There are several studies using time-lapse cameras to observe animal behaviour. Studies on remotely located skinks (*Scincidae*) used trail cameras due to their remoteness and are able to monitor their behaviour and potential predator exposure (Bertoia et al., 2023). Researchers also used time-lapse cameras to study Bonelli's eagle (*Aquila fasciata*) behaviour during the nestling period where these animals don't want to be disturbed (López-López & Urios, 2010). There have also been studies on seals where they use surveys amongst time-lapse photography, as well as visual monitoring and aerial surveys to observe how grey seals (*Halichoerus grypus*) and harbour seals haulout behaviour is affected by the construction of a large Danish offshore wind farm (EDRen et al., 2010). Another study evaluates different survey techniques, amongst time-lapse photos, to provide a more accurate estimate of the populations size of the harbour seal (Thompson & Harwood, 1990).

This master project aimed to investigate the haulout patterns of harbour seal colonies in the Norwegian Skagerrak, using time-lapse camera surveys. The project has specifically investigated how the number of seals on land is affected by diel, seasonal, and environmental parameters, as well as by anthropogenic disturbance. The study lasted approximately a year in one location (17 February - 31st January 2023), and four months at the second location (29 September – 22 December.

4

2. Methods and materials

2.1 Study sites

To examine the haulout behaviour of harbour seals, Lyngør and Østre Bolærene (Figure 2) were selected as two distinct locations in the Skagerrak region. This decision was based on previous research and tagging efforts that had identified a noteworthy number of individuals in these two colonies, ultimately improving the reliability and accuracy of the results.



Figure 2. Skagerrak and the location of the two study sites. Location one is located nearby Lyngør. Location two is located on the exposed (Eastern) side of Bolærene (Østre Bolærene).

The first location chosen in this study was Lyngør (in Tvedestrand municipality with the coordinates 58.617602 N, 9.074661 E). The skerry on which the seals were located, was surrounded by larger islands on all sides (Figure 3). This made it a more protected area from wind as well as waves. The location was covered with smaller islands and a few skerries, on which the seals could haulout. Lyngør was a popular vacation spot during the summer months and had high boat traffic as well as other water activities present (Arendal Turistkontor, 2023).

The study area laid next to Raet National Park. This national park had been protected since 2016, and 98% of this protected area laid in the marine environment (Raet national park, 2017). The area had become a sanctuary for the local lobster (*Homarus gammarus*) population (Kleiven & Agnalt, 2021; Raet national park, 2017). This in turn was a rich food source for the harbour seals residing in the area.



Figure 3. A view of the skerry located near Lyngør in Tvedestrand. The area is surrounded by bigger islands and the area is a high tourist attraction in the summer months. Photo credit: Elsa van Meurs.

Østre Bolærene (coordinates 59,192104 N, 10.583611 E) was located in outer Oslofjord in the Færder national park. The area had a rich animal life including harbour seals who were permanent residents (Færder, 2023). The location was covered with several smaller to mid-sized skerries (Figure 4). The skerry chosen for this study was very exposed to wind and waves. The tide also had a huge effect on which skerry the seals chose to lay on. The location laid next to the main boat route to Oslo.



Figure 4. A view of the skerries located outside of østre Bolærene. The group of Skerries in the front are the ones being watched during this study. Photo credit: Elsa van Meurs.

2.2 Time-lapse camera surveys

Three Bushwhacker Camo 4G time-lapse, each with a SE5200 solar power kit to keep the batteries charged (Figure 5), were installed at two known haulout sites for harbour seals in Norway (Lyngør and outer Oslofjord). The first camera was installed in February 2022 at Lyngør, and the second and third were installed in September 2022 at Østre Bolærene. The time-lapse cameras took one photo of the colony each hour, and only during daylight hours at Lyngør. The photos were sent via GSM to an FTP site at the Institute of Marine Research (IMR), and each photo automatically printed the date, time, air temperature, and moon phase. Additionally, the time-lapse cameras were equipped with an IR night vision feature that extended up to approximately 20 meters (maximum extend).



Figure 5. Time-lapse camera used in Lyngør. It consists of a solar panel placed on top and the camera with two antennas above the camera. The same setup is used at location two. Photo credit: Elsa van Meurs.

Placing the time-lapse cameras in the right spot was a crucial part of this research. The camera should be placed in a location where it could capture most of the smaller and larger skerries. In Lyngør, there was only one main skerry that the seals inhabited. Østre Bolærene was covered with several skerries, making it more difficult to place only one time-lapse camera. Therefore, two time-lapse cameras were placed, one facing south and another facing northwest, providing a full coverage of the haulout sites. However, the south camera failed after a few days and was therefore not used in the analysis. The northwest camera enabled me to capture images at night because the camera was less than 20 meters away from the observed animals. This camera was specifically used to test whether the number of seals varied significantly from day to night. The camera took one picture each hour during the whole period. This was to get a better understanding on how the number of seals changed during the day. Because the study generated an immense amount of data, I decided to select only one picture every hour for all the cameras. Additionally, considering that a single person was responsible for counting the images, it would have been overwhelming to handle multiple images per hour.

2.3 Environmental data

To look at the effect of environmental parameters on the number of seals coming ashore, data of air temperature, wind direction and wind speed were obtained for each hour from Norwegian Centre for Climate Services (NCCS) (<u>https://seklima.met.no/</u>). The weather station Lyngør Fyr was used for Lyngør and Færder Fyr was chosen for Østre Bolærene. Seawater level could have a major impact on the haulout behaviour due to the possible loss of skerries to haulout on. Therefor the sea-water level was also noted each hour, from the Norwegian mapping authority (Kartverket) (https://www.kartverket.no/til-sjos/se-havniva).

2.4 Data analysis

The number of seals in each photo frame was manually counted and registered in excel. In cases of adverse weather conditions where the seals were less visible, but still reasonably distinguishable, population estimates were made. Otherwise, those photos were excluded from the results. Camera three at Østre Bolærene was able to capture the seals at night closest by laying on the rocks, not the individuals further away. This meant that to get the best results

8

on daily variation on the seals hauling out, only the seals laying on the same rocks close by were counted during the night and day. Not the ones who I was able to see during the day who laid on rocks further away. Haulout behaviour, quantified by the number of seals on land, was examined in relation to time of day and environmental conditions to investigate their impact on resting patterns. Additionally, anthropogenic disturbances on haulout patterns was examined by comparing the number of seals on land on working days versus weekends and holidays. The summer holiday lasted from approximately 25th of June until 14th August, these dates were chosen due to school vacations. Statistical analyses were based on circular statistics and generalized linear models (GLMs), using R software (Dunn & Smyth, 2018). Data exploration was performed to locate eventual outliers in the seal counts and environmental variables. Due to the varying number of seals, these outliers needed to be traced back to their origin and double-checked.

To investigate the relationship between the different parameters and the number of seals, I employed a Generalized Linear Model (GLM) with a Poisson distribution and an appropriate link function. Instead of relying on scatter plots with a smoother and boxplots, the GLM with a Poisson distribution allowed me to model the count data accurately. I treated the number of seals as the response variable and the parameters as the predictor variables in the model. To establish the link between the linear predictor and the mean of the Poisson distribution, I used the log link function. This choice ensured that the predicted values remained positive and facilitated the modeling of the relationship between the parameters and the expected counts. Once the GLM with the Poisson distribution and log link function was fitted, I could interpret the estimated coefficients associated with the parameters. Positive coefficients indicated an increase in the expected number of seals for each unit increment in the corresponding parameter, while negative coefficients signified a decrease.

I used two different formulas due to two different localities. For Lyngør I used: log (number of seals) = $\beta 0 + \beta 1$ temperature + $\beta 2$ water level + $\beta 3$ wind + $\beta 4$ day off. For Østre Bolærene I used: log (number of seals) = $\beta 0 + \beta 1$ temperature + $\beta 2$ water level + $\beta 3$ wind + $\beta 4$ day or night

These formulas predicted the number of seals based on several predictor variables. Number of seals was the response variable, and the predictor variables were temperature, water level, wind, and day off for Lyngør and day or night for Østre Bolærene. β 0 represented the number of seals when all the predictor variables were equal to zero. β 1 temperature, β 2 water level, β 3 wind and β 4 day or night represented the expected number in the log(number of seals) when each of the predictor variables increased with one unit respectively.

The model assumed a Poisson distribution for the response variable (number of seals) and used a significance level of 0,05. Afterwards the model needed to be validated by calculating the dispersion parameter. If the dispersion parameter was equal to 1, the model was not overdispersed (Loeloe & Madadizadeh, 2023). If the dispersion parameter was greater than 1, the model was overdispersed (Loeloe & Madadizadeh, 2023). This meant that the results gained from the Poisson test were invalid. A fitted negative binomial regression model could be used from the 'MASS' package in R (Ripley et al., 2013) if the Poisson test was overdispersed. This test analysed count data, categorized by whole number greater or equal to zero. The negative binominal regression could also handle greater range of variability, thus making it a possible better option for these parameters.

3. Results

The time-lapse camera in Lyngør collected data for 12 months (17 February - 31st January 2023), except in the period 9-22 July, due to lack of battery. Data from 333 days in which the camera captured 8437 photos were collected. In this period the temperature ranged from -11 °C to 33°C, and had a mean temperature of 13,6 °C. Due to its wind protected placement (Figure 6) the wind speed ranged from 0 m/s to 16,5 m/s and had a mean wind speed of 4,6 m/s. The water level ranged from -3 cm to 127 cm, with an mean water level of 53,3 cm. The period had a maximum of 37 seals and a minimum of 0 seals, the average was around 9 seals per hour.



Figure 6. An image from the time-lapse camera placed at location one (Lyngør). An overview over some parameters are located at the bottom of the image.

Østre Bolærene collected data on 85 days in which the camera captured 2022 photos (29 September – 22 December). The temperature ranged from -4 °C to 26 °C, and had a mean temperature of 11,1 °C. The area had no form of wind protection and was exposed by both strong winds and waves (see figure 7 and 8). The wind speed ranged from 0,3 m/s to 18,8 m/s, and had a mean wind speed of 8,8 m/s. The water level ranged from 1 cm to 130 cm and had a mean of 60 cm. The period had a maximum of 18 seals and a minimum of 0 seals, the average was around 1 seal per hour.



Figure 7. An image from the time-lapse camera placed at Østre Bolærene, obtained during the day. An overview over some parameters are located at the bottom of the image.



Figure 8. A image from the time-lapse camera placed at Østre Bolærene, obtained during the night. An overview over some parameters are located at the bottom of the image.

Table 1

An overview over the different values and information gathered from the two locations studied in this study.

Location	N Images	Mean temperature	Mean wind speed	Mean water level (min –	
		(min – max)	(min – max)	max)	
Lyngør	8437	13,6 °C (-11 °C–	4,6 m/s (0 m/s –	53,3 cm (-3 cm – 127	
		33°C)	16,5 m/s)	cm)	
Østre	2022	11,1 °C (-4 °C –	8,8 m/s (0,3 m/s –	60 cm (1 cm – 130 cm)	
Bolærene		26 °C)	18,8 m/s)		

3.1 How temperature affects the number of seals

How the haulout behaviour was affected by temperature was investigated at Lyngør during the period from 17.02.22 to 31.01.2023. The data showed a slight increase in the number of seals hauling out on the skerries as the temperature increased. The rate of increase was initially slow, but it accelerated after the temperature reached approximately 25°C (Figure 9).



Figure 9. The relationship between the number of seals hauled out and the air temperature at Lyngør in the period from 17.02.22 to 31.01.2023.

3.2 How the water level affects the number of seals

How the rising water level had affected the haulout behaviour was investigated at Lyngør during the period from 17.02.22 to 31.01.2023. The data was recorded from a local weather station. The data showed a steady decrease in the number of seals hauling out on the skerries at Lyngør. A smooth line was added to see the pattern of the period. Starting with about 18 seals hauling out on skerries at 0 cm, reaching 0 seals hauling out at 125 cm (Figure 10).



Figure 10. The graph displays the relationship between the number of seals hauled out and the fluctuating water level in the tidal cycle at Lyngør in the period from 17.02.22 to 31.01.2023.

3.3 How the wind speed affects the number of seals hauled out

How the increase in wind speed had affected the haulout behaviour was investigated at Lyngør during the period from 17.02.22 to 31.01.2023. The data was recorded from a local weather station. A smooth line was added to see the trend of the period. The graph showed a slight increase in the number of seals observed, peaking at around three to four meters per second. However, the number of seals steadily decreased thereafter, reaching zero at approximately 16,5 meters per second (Figure 11).



Figure 11. The graph displays the relationship between the number of seals hauled out and wind speed at Lyngør in the period from 17.02.22 to 31.01.2023.

3.4 How holidays and weekends affect the number of seals

Looking at how the haulout behaviour of the harbour seals was affected by holidays, weekends and days off was done by making two boxplots for each month for days off (holidays and weekends) and normal weekdays (Figure 12). The different months showed different results. January, February, March September, and November showed signs that the seals hauled out more during holidays, weekends and days off. While the other months showed signs for the opposite. Increasing human activity was not looked at in these boxplots.



Figure 12. The effect of holidays and weekends on the haulout behaviour of harbour seal populations during the different months. The months are from 1 to 12 (January to December) starting at the top left panel. The data was collected at Lyngør in the period from 17.02.22 to 31.01.2023.

3.5 How the number of seals varied during the time of day

Looking at the daily activity on location two, there was a slight trend of increasing numbers of seals during the early day and late in the night. In the period from 07.00 to 14.00 the number of seals decreased towards the point that there almost were no seals to be spotted near the camera. From 15.00 to 19.00 the numbers of seals increased and reached its highest point from 20.00 to 01.00. During this period most of the seals were spotted. The numbers decreased from 01.00 to 06.00 before reaching an all low at 07.00 again (Figure 13).



Figure 13. The graph displays the haulout behaviour of the harbour seals at Østre Bolærene during an entire day. The data was collected from 29 September to 22 Desember.

3.6 Model estimates

Starting with Lyngør, the estimated intercept was 3,294667 with a standard error of 0,055367. The z-value of 59,506 indicated a highly significant effect (p-value < 0,001) (Table 2).

For the wind speed parameter, the estimated coefficient was -0,099257 with a standard error of 0,005473. The z-value of -18,136 indicated a highly significant effect (p-value < 0,001). A decrease in the wind speed was associated with a decrease in the expected value of the response variable (number of seals).

The coefficient of the parameter temperature had an estimate of 0,009326 with a standard error of 0,001764. The z-value of 5,285 indicated a highly significant effect (p-value < 0,001). Therefore, an increase in temperature was associated with an increase in the expected value of the response variable (number of seals). This suggested that higher temperatures lead to an increase in the number of observed seals in Lyngør, according to the model.

Similarly, the estimated coefficient for the water level was -0.014767 with a standard error of 0,000808. The z-value of -18,276 indicated a highly significant effect (p-value < 0,001). A decrease in the water level was associated with a decrease in the expected value of the response variable (number of seals). Hence, lower water levels were linked to a decrease in the observed number of seals.

Regarding the "Day off" predictor (Yes), the estimated coefficient was -0,081804 with a standard error of 0,030371. The z-value of -2,693 indicated a significant effect (p-value = 0,007). Being a day off, such as holidays, weekends, and vacations, had a negative impact on the expected value of the response variable (number of seals). This implied that during days off, there was likely to be a decrease in the observed number of seals.

Table 2

An overview over the estimates, standard error, z-value and p-value of the Lyngør GLM model. Intercept represents the expected value of the response variable (number of seals) when all other predictors (wind speed, temperature, water level and day off (yes)) are zero.

LYNGØR	ESTIMATE	STD. ERROR	Z-VALUE	P-VALUE
(INTERCEPT)	3,294667	0,055367	59,506	< 0,001
WIND SPEED	-0,099257	0,005473	-18,136	< 0,001
TEMPERATURE	0,009326	0,001764	5,285	< 0,001
WATER LEVEL	-0,014767	0,000808	-18,276	< 0,001
DAY OFF (YES)	-0,081804	0,030371	-2,693	0,007

For Østre Bolærene, the estimated intercept was 2,58985 with a standard error of 0,20812. The z-value of 12,444 indicated a highly significant effect (p-value < 0,001).

For the wind speed parameter, the estimated coefficient was -0,08407 with a standard error of 0,01487. The z-value of -5,654 indicated a highly significant effect (p-value < 0,001). A decrease in the wind speed was associated with a decrease in the expected value of the response variable (number of seals) (Table 3).

The coefficient of the parameter temperature had an estimate of 0,03997 with a standard error of 0,01116. The z-value of 3,581 indicated a highly significant effect (p-value < 0,001). Therefore, an increase in temperature was associated with an increase in the expected value of the response variable (number of seals). This suggested that higher temperatures lead to an increase in the number of observed seals in Lyngør, according to the model.

Similarly, the estimated coefficient for the water level was -0,05564 with a standard error of 0,00310. The z-value of -17,946 indicated a highly significant effect (p-value < 0,001). A decrease in the water level was associated with a decrease in the expected value of the response variable (number of seals).

Lastly, the estimated coefficient for the "nday2_Night" predictor was 0,83995 with a standard error of 0,11969. The z-value of 7,018 indicated a highly significant effect (p-value < 0,001). This suggested that when the "nday2_Night" condition was present, the expected value of the response variable (number of seals) increased.

Table 3

An overview over the estimates, standard error, z-value and p-value of the Østre Bolærene GLM model. Intercept represents the expected value of the response variable (number of seals) when all other predictors (wind speed, temperature, water level and nday2_night) are zero.

ØSTRE BOLÆRENE	ESTIMATE	STD. ERROR	Z-VALUE	P-VALUE
(INTERCEPT)	2,58985	0,20812	12,444	< 0,001
WIND SPEED	-0,08407	0,01487	-5,654	< 0,001
TEMPERATURE	0,03997	0,01116	3,581	< 0,001
WATER LEVEL	-0,05564	0,00310	-17,946	< 0,001
NDAY2_NIGHT	0,83995	0,11969	7,018	< 0,001

4. Discussion

The research conducted in this study relies on data captured by time-lapse cameras positioned at two distinct locations within the Skagerrak region. A total of 8437 images from Lyngør and 2022 images from Østre Bolærene were carefully examined to determine the number of seals present. Environmental parameters such as water level, wind speed have a negative effect on the haulout behaviour, while temperature has a positive effect. Moreover, the time of day and the occurrence of weekends or holidays displayed differing effects on how the seals engage in haulout behaviour. These findings have the potential to contribute to a deeper comprehension of the harbour seal's haulout behaviour in the Skagerrak region.

4.1 Temperature and haulout behaviour

When examining the temperature parameter, one can observe a significant increase in the number of seals as the temperature rises. This can be explained by their thermoregulation and the benefits of coming ashore during warmer temperatures (Grellier et al., 1996). Being endothermic, these seals need to maintain a constant body temperature. They are able to regulate their heat loss (Wursig et al., 2018). However, the relationship between temperature and haulout behaviour seems to be influenced by the distance to the foraging site. In earlier studies where seals had longer foraging trips and could be at sea for several days, haulout behaviour was less affected by temperature and more by the distance to the foraging site (Allen-Miller, 1988; Thompson et al., 1989). In some cases, such as this study, temperature may have a stronger influence on haulout behaviour due to the shorter distance to the foraging site. Seals in this population may not rely on resting as much as populations that travel many kilometres. Warmer temperatures generally promote haulout behaviour, but age and sex also influences skerry preference (Reder et al., 2003).

4.2 Tidal influence on haulout behaviour

Rising water levels decrease the dry areas available for seals to haulout on, thereby decreasing the number of seals hauling out. Some studies suggest a more direct connection between tidal level and haulout behaviour, hauling out more at the lowest tides (Patterson & Acevedo-Gutiérrez, 2008). However, there is variation in the influence of tides in different areas, with sites experiencing higher tidal influence being more impacted than those with lower tidal influence (Mogren et al., 2010). The timing of the tides also has an influence on haulout behaviour (Boveng et al., 2003).

4.3 Wind speed and haulout behaviour

In this study, the wind speed had a negative effect on the number of seals hauling out. Increasing wind speed decreased the number of seals hauling out. Sea spray and waves due to strong wind (exposure) is also known to impact the haulout sites and decrease their quality for the seals (Mogren et al., 2010). Some studies performed on Weddell seals (*Leptonychotes weddellii*) have shown that seals tend to haulout less when the wind is strong, which therefore has a significant effect on the number of seals (Lake et al., 1997; Siniff et al., 1971; Smith, 1965). Calm, as well as warmer weather, promotes haulout behaviour (Reder et al., 2003).

4.4 How holidays and weekends affect the number of seals hauling out

Some locations are more popular tourist spots than others, making these areas highly populated by humans during weekends and vacations. This, in turn, influences the local harbour seals residing in the area. During pupping season, which has regional differences, the effect of human presence has a higher impact on the haulout behaviour of the seals as well as changing and impacting the pups (Osinga et al., 2012; Temte et al., 1991). Therefore, it is highly important to find out where the pups are and protect them from unnecessary human impact. Lyngør is, as mentioned, a highly attractive tourist location and has a high boat traffic during the summer months. There are some boat tours in Østre Bolærene that try to locate the seals for tourists visiting the isles. However, due to little information about the haulout behaviour in July because of a camera failure, I am not able to confirm if the results shown in figure 12 are correct. It may also be the case that the local seals are used to the human presence and are therefore not as shy, and they might ignore the humans more than populations in non-tourist locations. As a result, this factor may influence our findings, potentially leading to an increased inclination for seals to haulout as temperatures rise.

4.5 Varying haulout behaviour during the day

There is a clear circadian pattern in the haulout behaviour of harbour seals, with a preference for afternoons, nights, and early mornings, and avoidance of midday haulout. This preference was also observed in earlier studies, where seals preferred hauling out during the afternoon and evening (Reder et al., 2003). However, differences were noted between age, sex, and seasonal changes (Reder et al., 2003). Other studies have also shown that harbour seals prefer to haulout at night and less during the day (Bringsdal, 2021). The reason why these harbour seals haulout during the darker hours might be because of several factor. By hauling out during the night they can avoid predators when resting. They might also prefer to stay in the water when the sun is up due to human disturbance (London et al., 2012). Their response to human presence depends on the location of the locality. In highly popular tourist areas, seals may be more tolerant of human presence and less likely to flee. Though some have seen that there is a difference in when they haulout depending on time of the year (London et al., 2012). Therefor our result might only be valid for the time of year the data was collected (29 September to 22 December), and therefore be different during the moulting period.

4.6 Sources of error

The study was conducted at two locations, and it was necessary to find two weather stations that had similar environmental factors. For location one, Lyngør fyr was chosen as the closest area that measured all the required parameters. However, Lyngør fyr is more exposed than the actual study area, which may have caused some faulty wind results. Unfortunately, no other location was closer regarding the other environmental results. Nevertheless, the water level was the same at both the weather station and the study site, because of its short distance from one another, and thus had no incorrect effects on the results. Temperature results were obtained from the time-lapse camera on cite, which is more accurate than what might have been collected from the weather station. This is because the seals were directly exposed to sunlight, as was the time-lapse camera, making the temperature measurements more precise.

Location two was more challenging because only the water level was measured nearby, and the wind speed was measured from the mainland, making it less reliable. To obtain accurate results that more likely matched the study location, I selected a weather station with a similar environment. Færder fyr, which is about 20 kilometres south of Østre Bolærene, was chosen as it had a similar environment. Although it was slightly further from our study location, the environment was very similar, making it a suitable option.

This project encountered several issues due to its nature. Firstly, the results were highly impacted by human error, as no artificial intelligence was used to count the seals, resulting in a manual count that might have a few mistakes. Distinguishing between seals and rocks was also challenging, particularly during times of poor visibility or bad weather conditions, which sometimes made it impossible to count the seals.

The project involved taking one image per hour, which provided sufficient information during certain periods. However, it is important to note that during the summer months when human activity is higher, this method may yield incomplete information as it only captures specific moments and may not capture all human activities in the area. This limitation could potentially result in misleading or incomplete data. Battery life was another issue, with AA batteries lasting longer during ample sunlight but draining quickly during cloudy periods. This caused data loss during the summer holidays, during which the camera was inaccessible for approximately 10 to 11 days.

4.7 Further suggestions

Ideally, the same observatory study should be conducted at multiple sites along the Norwegian coast, with each study taking place for approximately one year. This would provide a better understanding of how environmental parameters affect haulout behaviour at different locations and provide more accurate population estimates for each site. This method would be preferable to counting seals on land during the moulting season, as seals may forage or inhabit other skerries. This may give us a better count estimate of the entire harbour seal population.

An Artificial Intelligence (AI) system could potentially provide better results without human error. An AI works faster and therefor also enables to process data from a larger number of time-lapse cameras.

It would also be valuable to investigate how lunar stages affect haulout behaviour. While camera three did not capture enough data to yield significant results, a larger dataset would provide more insight into this relationship.

24

The placement of the time-lapse cameras is a crucial part of the study and for the Lyngør location the camera was placed outside of the night vision range and was not able to observe the colony at night causing me to not get any data of the seals during the darker hours. The number of time-lapse cameras placed at one colony is dependable on the colony size. Larger colonies may inhabit more skerries than smaller ones and might therefor not be able to be detected using only one time-lapse camera. The haulout site might also be large and not observable from one time-lapse cameras.

This study can give us a good insight on how the seals differ in haulout behaviour due to different parameters. This in turn gives us a better understanding on how to correct the seal count performed during the moulting season. It is however important to note that the haulout behaviour can differ in this time of year. The technique used in this study might be suitable for the purpose of learning more of their behaviour during the moulting season which might give an even better understanding on how to correct the seal count.

5. Conclusion

Harbour seals are an important part of the Norwegian coastal ecosystem, and their populations are regulated. This research provides valuable information on how to monitor these populations using trail cameras, specifically time-lapse cameras, and how they can give valuable information on types of behaviour. Given the regional differences between harbour seal populations, it is crucial to understand their haulout preferences in different localities. At the two localities chosen in this study, Lyngør and Østre Bolærene, I found that the haulout behaviour was affected differently by different parameters.

This study shows how trail cameras, specifically time-lapse cameras, can be used to get a better understanding on a specific behaviour of an animal. In this case I got a closer look on what parameters affected the haulout behaviour of the harbour seal

The number of seals hauling out increases when temperatures rise, as they benefit from coming ashore in warmer weather. However, this behaviour varies depending on the proximity of their foraging site. Seals with foraging sites nearby may not rely on resting when returning to their haulout site, while those with more distant foraging sites must rest more often and are therefore less selective in their choice of haulout site. Rising water levels due to changing tides reduce the number of spots available for seals to rest on, which in turn decreases their haulout behaviour. Increasing wind speed also has negative effects on haulout behaviour, as strong winds and sea sprays make haulout sites less comfortable for the seals.

Harbour seals exhibit a clear circadian pattern, preferring to haulout during the night and early morning and avoiding midday in our study period which was from 29 September to 22 December. This might be different in other localities and other seasons.

Though this study scratches the surface of how time-lapse cameras can give more information on how to calculate when to count seals and how the haulout behaviour of the harbour seal is affected, more data is needed. Specifically during the moulting season, due to possible changes in haulout behaviour it might cause. Though this study gives an overall insight on how different parameters influence the haulout behaviour and shows how important it is to consider how different environmental parameters affect the behaviour of marine mammals.

26

6. References

- Allen-Miller, S. (1988). Movement and activity patterns of harbor seals at the Point Reyes peninsula, California. *MS, University of California, Berkeley, CA*.
- Arendal Turistkontor. (2023, 03.04.2023). *Lyngør*. Retrieved 10.04.23 from <u>https://www.visitnorway.no/reisemal/sorlandet/arendal/listings-arendal/lyng%C3%B8r/16537/</u>
- Bertoia, A., Cree, A., & Monks, J. (2023). Trail cameras enhance understanding of lizard behaviour in a remote alpine environment. *New Zealand Journal of Ecology*, *47*(1).
- Bjørge, A. (2014). Minirapport om sel i forbindelse med arbeidet med Jomfruland nasjonalpark. Oppdrag fra Fylkesmannen i Telemark.
- Bjørge, A., Desportes, G., Waring, G. T., & Rosing-Asvid, A. (2010). Introduction: the harbour seal (Phoca vitulina)-a global perspective. *NAMMCO Scientific Publications, 8*, 7-11.
- Bjørge, A., & Nilssen, K. T. (2021). *Topic: Harbour seals*. INSTITUTE OF MARINE RESEARCH. Retrieved 24.10.22 from <u>https://www.hi.no/en/hi/temasider/species/harbour-seals</u>
- Bjørge, A., Ølen, N., Hartvedt, S., Bøthun, G., & Bekkby, T. (2002). Dispersal and bycatch mortality in gray, Halichoerus grypus, and harbor, Phoca vitulina, seals tagged at the Norwegian coast. *Marine Mammal Science*, *18*(4), 963-976.
- Blanchet, M.-A., Vincent, C., Womble, J. N., Steingass, S. M., & Desportes, G. (2021). Harbour seals: Population structure, status, and threats in a rapidly changing environment. Oceans,
- Boveng, P. L., Bengtson, J. L., Withrow, D. E., Cesarone, J. C., Simpkins, M. A., Frost, K. J., & Burns, J. J. (2003). The abundance of harbor seals in the Gulf of Alaska. *Marine Mammal Science*, 19(1), 111-127.
- Bringsdal, N. H. (2021). *Haul-out Behavior of Harbor Seals (Phoca vitulina) along the Norwegian Coast* University of Agder].
- Dunn, P. K., & Smyth, G. K. (2018). Generalized linear models with examples in R (Vol. 53). Springer.
- EDRen, S. M., Andersen, S. M., Teilmann, J., Carstensen, J., Harders, P. B., Dietz, R., & Miller, L. A. (2010). The effect of a large Danish offshore wind farm on harbor and gray seal haul-out behavior. *Marine Mammal Science*, *26*(3), 614-634.
- Færder, N. (2023). DYRELIV. Retrieved 12.03.2023 from https://ferdernasjonalpark.no/naturoghistorie/dyreliv/

- Granquist, S. M., & Hauksson, E. (2016). Seasonal, meteorological, tidal and diurnal effects on haulout patterns of harbour seals (Phoca vitulina) in Iceland. *Polar Biology*, *39*(12), 2347-2359.
- Grellier, K., Thompson, P. M., & Corpe, H. M. (1996). The effect of weather conditions on harbour seal (Phoca vitulina) haulout behaviour in the Moray Firth, northeast Scotland. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 74(10), 1806-1811.
- Grigg, E. K., Green, D. E., Allen, S. G., & Markowitz, H. (2002). Nocturnal and diurnal haul-out patterns of harbor seals (Phoca vitulina richardsi) at Castro Rocks, San Francisco Bay, California. *California Fish and Game, 88*(1), 15-27.
- Henry, E., & Hammill, M. O. (2001). Impact of small boats on the haulout activity of harbour seals(Phoca vitulina) in Metis Bay, Saint Lawrence Estuary, Quebec, Canada. *Aquatic Mammals*, *27*(2), 140-148.
- Härkönen, T., & Harding, K. (2001). Spatial structure of harbour seal populations and the implications thereof. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, *79*(12), 2115-2127.
- Jones, D. V., & Rees, D. R. (2022). Haul-out Counts and Photo-Identification of Pinnipeds in Chesapeake Bay and Eastern Shore, Virginia: 2020/2021 Annual Progress Report.

Kartverket. *Norwegian mapping authority*. <u>https://www.kartverket.no/til-sjos/se-havniva</u>

- Kinze, C. C., Rubæk, B., & Christie, D. A. (2002). *Marine Mammals of the North Atlantic*. Princeton University Press. <u>https://books.google.no/books?id=nvhOswEACAAJ</u>
- Kleiven, A. R., & Agnalt, A.-L. (2021). *Tema: Hummer europeisk*. INSTITUTE OF MARINE RESEARCH. Retrieved 26.01.2023 from <u>https://www.hi.no/hi/temasider/arter/hummer-europeisk</u>
- Lake, S., Burton, H., & Hindell, M. (1997). Influence of time of day and month on Weddell seal haulout patterns at the Vestfold Hills, Antarctica. *Polar Biology*, *18*, 319-324.
- Loeloe, M. S., & Madadizadeh, F. (2023). Introduction to widely used regression models in medical research using R, STATA, and SPSS: A tutorial.
- London, J. M., Ver Hoef, J. M., Jeffries, S. J., Lance, M. M., & Boveng, P. L. (2012). Haul-out behavior of harbor seals (Phoca vitulina) in Hood Canal, Washington. *Plos one*, *7*(6), e38180.
- Lonergan, M., Duck, C., Moss, S., Morris, C., & Thompson, D. (2013). Rescaling of aerial survey data with information from small numbers of telemetry tags to estimate the size of a declining harbour seal population. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems, 23*(1), 135-144.

- López-López, P., & Urios, V. (2010). Use of digital trail cameras to study Bonelli's eagle diet during the nestling period. *Italian Journal of Zoology*, *77*(3), 289-295.
- Mogren, H.-G., Lindstrøm, U., Nilssen, K. T., & Haug, T. (2010). Haulout behaviour of harbour seals (Phoca vitulina) during breeding and moult in Vesterålen, Norway. *NAMMCO Scientific Publications*, *8*, 303-312.
- NCCS. "The Norwegian Cenre for Climate Services." https://seklima.met.no/
- Osinga, N., Nussbaum, S. B., Brakefield, P. M., & de Haes, H. A. U. (2012). Response of common seals (Phoca vitulina) to human disturbances in the Dollard estuary of the Wadden Sea. *Mammalian Biology*, *77*(4), 281-287.
- Paoli, C. (2020). Seals Molt Every Year To Keep Their Fur Healthy. Retrieved 23.01.2023 from https://whalescientists.com/seals-molting/
- Paterson, W., Sparling, C., Thompson, D., Pomeroy, P., Currie, J., & McCafferty, D. (2012). Seals like it hot: Changes in surface temperature of harbour seals (Phoca vitulina) from late pregnancy to moult. *Journal of Thermal Biology*, *37*(6), 454-461.
- Patterson, J., & Acevedo-Gutiérrez, A. (2008). Tidal influence on the haul-out behavior of harbor seals (Phoca vitulina) at a site available at all tide levels. *Northwestern Naturalist, 89*(1), 17-23.
- Raet national park. (2017). Velkommen til Sørlandets nasjonalpark. <u>https://raetnasjonalpark.no/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/12-sider-Raet.pdf</u>
- Reder, S., Lydersen, C., Arnold, W., & Kovacs, K. M. (2003). Haulout behaviour of High Arctic harbour seals (Phoca vitulina vitulina) in Svalbard, Norway. *Polar Biology, 27*, 6-16.
- Riedman, M. (1990). The pinnipeds: seals, sea lions, and walruses (Vol. 12). Univ of California Press.
- Ripley, B., Venables, B., Bates, D. M., Hornik, K., Gebhardt, A., Firth, D., & Ripley, M. B. (2013). Package 'mass'. *Cran r, 538*, 113-120.
- Siniff, D., Tester, J., & Kuechle, V. (1971). Some observations on the activity patterns of Weddell seals as recorded by telemetry. *Antarctic Pinnipedia*, *18*, 173-180.
- Smith, M. (1965). Seasonal movements of the Weddell seal in McMurdo Sound, Antarctica. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 464-470.
- Swann, D. E., Kawanishi, K., & Palmer, J. (2011). Evaluating Types and Features of Camera Traps in Ecological Studies: A Guide for Researchers. In A. F. O'Connell, J. D. Nichols, & K. U. Karanth (Eds.), Camera Traps in Animal Ecology: Methods and Analyses (pp. 27-43). Springer Japan. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-4-431-99495-4_3</u>

- Temte, J., Bigg, M., & Wiig, Ø. (1991). Clines revisited: the timing of pupping in the harbour seal (Phoca vitulina). *Journal of Zoology, 224*(4), 617-632.
- Thompson, P., Fedak, M., McConnell, B., & Nicholas, K. (1989). Seasonal and sex-related variation in the activity patterns of common seals (Phoca vitulina). *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 521-535.
- Thompson, P. M., & Harwood, J. (1990). Methods for estimating the population size of common seals, Phoca vitulina. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 924-938.
- Wearn, O. R., & Glover-Kapfer, P. (2019). Snap happy: camera traps are an effective sampling tool when compared with alternative methods. *Royal Society open science*, 6(3), 181748.
- Wursig, B., Thewissen, J. G. M., & Kovacs, K. M. (2018). *Encyclopedia of marine mammals*. Academic Press. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/C2015-0-00820-6</u>